Alma Mater Studiorum - Università di Bologna

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN

ONCOLOGIA, EMATOLOGIA E PATOLOGIA

Ciclo 35

Settore Concorsuale: 06/D3 - MALATTIE DEL SANGUE, ONCOLOGIA E REUMATOLOGIA Settore Scientifico Disciplinare: MED/06 - ONCOLOGIA MEDICA

EXPLORATORY ANALYSIS OF THE ROLE OF CIRCULATING MICRORNA IN METASTATIC MELANOMA PATIENTS

Presentata da: Francesca Comito

Coordinatore Dottorato

Manuela Ferracin

Supervisore

Andrea Ardizzoni

Co-supervisore

Barbara Melotti

Esame finale anno 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION4
Targeted therapy5
Immunotherapy6
Biomarkers in melanoma9
Circulating microRNAs10
Selection of miRNAs12
OBJECTIVES
METHODS
RESULTS
Patients characteristics and treatments15
MiRNAs analysis16
DISCUSSION
BIBLIOGRAPHY21

ABSTRACT

MicroRNAs act as oncogene or tumor suppressor gene regulators and are actively released from tumor cells in the circulation. Specific microRNAs can be isolated and quantified in the blood, usually in serum or plasma fractions, where they are uncommonly stable. Cell-free microRNAs serve many, and possibly yet unexplored, functional roles and microRNA levels reflect underlying conditions and have been associated with skin cancer presence, stage and evolution. However, the clinical potential of circulating miRNAs in metastatic melanoma remains largely undefined.

From May 2020 to September 2022, we conducted a spontaneous, monocentric, exploratory study on human tissues in vitro, which aimed to evaluate the prognostic and predictive role of circulating miRNAs in metastatic melanoma patients.

At the Medical Oncology Unit of Policlinico Sant'Orsola-Malpighi of Bologna, peripheral venous blood samples from patients with metastatic melanoma treated with checkpoint inhibitors (CPI) were collected before the start of CPI (baseline, T0) and longitudinally, approximately every 3 months (T1, T2, etc). Circulating miRNA quantification was performed by droplet digital PCR (Biorad) using an EvaGreen and LNA primer-based assays. QuantaSoft Program (Biorad) calculated the absolute quantifications of each miRNA, indicated as copies/µL.

After analysis of the literature, we chose to analyze miR-155-5p, miR-320a and miR-424-5p level. All miRNAs except miR-424-5p show a significantly higher level in plasma of patients who are alive after 1 year of follow-up. High/low levels of baseline miR-155-5p, miR-320a and miR-424-5p are significantly associated with overall survival and progression-free survival.

Furthermore, a preliminary analysis on the group of patients who received first-line with anti-PD-1 (N=7), baseline miR-155-5p shows higher levels in responder vs. non responder patients (p 0.06). These data, though promising, are preliminary and need to be further investigated in a larger cohort of patients.

INTRODUCTION

Malignant melanoma is a type of skin cancer that comprises less than 5% of all cutaneous malignancies, although it accounts for the majority of skin cancer-related deaths.

The incidence and mortality rates of melanoma differ widely across the globe. Worldwide, 324635 cases of all newly diagnosed primary malignant cancers are cases of cutaneous melanoma, and annually about 57043 cancer deaths are due to cutaneous melanoma. The incidence of cutaneous melanoma has increased since the early 1970s in predominantly fair skinned populations [1]. Age-cohort period analyses of melanoma incidence in Australia, New Zealand, Norway, Sweden, the UK, and the white population of the USA from 1982 to 2011 revealed that the incidence increased about 3% annually, and will further increase at least until 2022 in Norway, Sweden, the USA [2]. In 2020, 14 900 newly diagnosed melanoma cases were expected in Italy, where melanoma is the second most common malignancy in under-50-years men, the third most common in under-50-years women and accounts for 1% of cancer deaths in both sexes [3].

The prognosis of melanoma is excellent for patients who present with localized disease and primary tumors 1 mm or less in thickness, with 10-year melanoma-specific-survival of 95%. For patients with localized melanomas more than 1.0 mm in thickness (stage II), 5-year survival rates range from 82% to 94%, depending on tumor thickness, presence of ulceration, and mitotic rate. When regional nodes are involved (stage III), 5-year survival rates range from 32% to 93%, depending primarily on the nodal tumor burden [4]. It is uncommon for patients with melanoma to present initially with metastatic disease (stage IV). Most patients develop distant metastases after an interval from their original management for localized or regional metastatic disease. Often, metastases become evident within 2 to 3 years of diagnosis, but delayed metastasis is also common, and for melanoma, regional and distant metastases have occurred after disease-free intervals measured in decades [5]. In general, the interval to detection of distant metastases is shorter for patients who initially present with high-stage disease and is longest for patients who present with clinically localized thin melanomas.

Historically, survival outcomes for patients with metastatic melanoma (stage IV) have been poor. Few treatment options were available and median overall survival was 6-10 months and the 5-year survival rate approximately 10% [6]. However, over the past 10 years, increased biological understanding and access to innovative therapeutic substances have markedly changed the prognosis of metastatic melanoma (MM) patients and have transformed advanced melanoma into a new oncological model for treating solid cancers.

Targeted therapy

The mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, which features the sequence RAS, RAF, MEK, and ERK, is one of the major signaling networks involved in melanoma tumorigenesis [7]. A major driver of this pathway is BRAF, which can initiate a cascade of events including phosphorylation and activation of MEK. BRAF mutations are found in 50% of cutaneous melanomas, with most (70–95%) consisting of a V600E substitution, while a smaller proportion (5–30%) are V600K substitutions [8].

Vemurafenib, an inhibitor of mutant BRAF, was approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2011 for the treatment of melanoma patients harboring the BRAF V600E mutation based on improved overall survival (OS) versus dacarbazine (DTIC) in the BRIM-3 phase III study [9]. The melanoma armamentarium expanded again with the FDA approval of dabrafenib and trametinib. Dabrafenib was approved for patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma harboring the BRAF V600E mutation based on results from a phase III trial showing improved median progression-free survival (mPFS) versus DTIC (5.1 months for dabrafenib vs. 2.7 months for DTIC; HR, 0.30)[10]. The MEK inhibitor trametinib was approved for melanoma patients harboring a BRAF V600E or V600K mutation based on results from a phase III trial showing improved median PFS versus DTIC or paclitaxel (4.8 months for trametinib vs. 1.5 months for DTIC or paclitaxel; HR, 0.45) [11]. In 2014, the FDA approved the use of dabrafenib in combination with trametinib for patients with BRAF V600E- or V600K-mutated melanoma (making dabrafenib/trametinib the first FDA-approved targeted combination therapy) on the base of improved overall response rate and median duration of response versus BRAF inhibitor monotherapy demonstrated in a phase I/II trial [12] and then confirmed in the phase III studies Combi-D and Combi-V [13,14]. Overall, BRAF inhibitors have shown objective response rates (ORR) of approximately 50%, which increase to 70% when combined with MEK inhibitors. Additionally, mPFS increases from 7-9 months with single-agent BRAF inhibitors to 11-14.9 months with BRAF and MEK inhibitors combination. Furthermore, a recently published pooled analysis showed that one third of patients who received first line treatment with dabrafenib and trametinib is alive and 19 % were progression free at 5 years [15]. In the COLUMBUS trial, treatment with the combination of the BRAF inhibitor encorafenib 450 mg and the MEK inhibitor binimetinib 45 mg improved progression-free survival and overall response compared with encorafenib 300 mg or vemurafenib, with better tolerability in patients with locally advanced unresectable or metastatic BRAF V600-mutant melanoma, untreated or progressed after first-line immunotherapy. The median PFS and OS with encorafenib plus binimetinib were 14.9 months and 33.6 months [16,17].

To sum up, three BRAF-MEK combinations are now approved: vemurafenib and cobimetinib, dabrafenib and trametinib and encorafenib and binimetinib. Essentially, the efficacy data for these treatment combinations are highly comparable, whereas their pharmacokinetics and toxicity profiles differ in some regards.

Immunotherapy

The rationale for using immunotherapy to treat advanced melanoma was based on two observations that suggest involvement of the immune system in the natural history of melanoma. First, a small proportion of patients experience spontaneous tumor regression in primary, but not metastatic, tumors in the absence of systemic intervention, suggesting that melanoma may be an immunologically modulated malignancy [18]. Second, high dose interleukin-2 (HD IL-2), a cytokine that induces T-cell activation and proliferation, demonstrated promising antitumor activity in murine models [19].

Therefore, initial attempts to improve outcomes in patients with advanced melanoma focused on the use of HD IL-2, that was evaluated in a series of phase II melanoma trials [20–23]. Although HD IL-2 may provide durable responses of over 10 years in some patients, its use is limited by severe toxicity that can affect multiple organ systems (e.g., cardiovascular, respiratory, nervous, renal, digestive, and skin) [24]. Despite these limitations, the experience with HD IL-2 provides proof-of-concept that modulation of the immune system might offer durable clinical benefit in melanoma.

Improvements in understanding of tumor immunology have led to the development of targeted immunotherapies aimed at specific immune-checkpoints, such as cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4), programmed death-1 (PD-1), and programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1). CTLA-4 and PD-1 are inhibitory receptors with non-overlapping roles in modulating the adaptive immune response. CTLA-4 acts primarily early in the immune response to regulate T-cell proliferation and migration to the tumor, whereas PD-1 and its ligand PD-L1 regulate T-cell activation and proliferation at the tumor site [25].

Ipilimumab, which targets CTLA-4, was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency in 2011 for the treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma. A survival benefit with ipilimumab was demonstrated in two randomized, controlled phase III trials (MDX010-20 and CA184-024) [26,27]. In study MDX010-20, previously treated

melanoma patients received ipilimumab 3 mg/kg plus the melanoma peptide vaccine gp100, ipilimumab 3 mg/kg alone, or gp100 alone [26]. The median OS for these treatment groups was 10.0, 10.1, and 6.4 months, respectively. The hazard ratio (HR) for death compared with gp100 alone was 0.68 (p < 0.001) for the ipilimumab plus gp100 group and 0.66 (p = 0.003) for the ipilimumab-alone group. In the study CA184-024, previously untreated patients received ipilimumab 10 mg/kg plus DTIC or DTIC plus placebo. The median OS for these treatment groups was 11.2 and 9.1 months, respectively (HR, 0.72; p < 0.001) [27].

A meta-analysis of pooled OS data from ipilimumab trials, which included data from 1861 melanoma patients, reported a 3-year OS rate of 22%; furthermore, a plateau in the pooled Kaplan–Meier curve began at approximately 3 years after initiation of therapy, and extended through follow-up of as long as 10 years [28]. More recently, it was demonstrated that higher-doses of ipilimumab (10 mg/kg) showed an advantage in terms of OS (15.7 vs.11.5 months), with more frequent immune-mediated toxicity [29]. Ipilimumab can be associated with different kinds of side effects, due to the immune system activation by CTLA-4 blockade. Collectively, the spectrum of side effects is described as immune-related adverse events (irAEs). irAEs most commonly affected the skin (rash/vitiligo/pruritis), the liver (hepatitis/rise in liver enzymes), the bowel (colitis), and the endocrine system (hypophysitis, thyroiditis, adrenal insufficiency). More rarely, uveitis, conjunctivitis, neuropathy, myopathy, and nephritis have been known to occur.

The success of ipilimumab was closely followed by the development of additional immunecheckpoint inhibitors (CPI). The anti-PD-1 agents, nivolumab and pembrolizumab, have demonstrated improved survival and less toxicity compared with ipilimumab.

In a phase I trial, nivolumab had a 48% objective response rate (ORR) and 32% OS rate at 4 years [30]. In the phase III Checkmate 066 trial, nivolumab demonstrated superior OS in previously untreated melanoma patients without BRAF mutation [31,32]. In the Checkmate 067 trial, nivolumab demonstrated substantially improved ORR, progression-free survival (PFS), and OS compared with ipilimumab as first line treatment [33].

In the phase I trial KEYNOTE-001 of pembrolizumab, there was a 5-year OS rate of 34% in patients with previously treated and treatment-naive advanced melanoma and 41% in untreated patients only [34]. In the phase II trial (KEYNOTE-002), pembrolizumab at two different dosages (2 and 10 mg/kg every 3 weeks) were compared to investigator choice chemotherapy in patients pretreated with ipilimumab, and both doses improved PFS and ORR [35].

In a phase III trial comparing pembrolizumab with ipilimumab (KEYNOTE-006 trial), after a median follow-up of 57,7 months, mOS was 32,7 months in the combined pembrolizumab groups and 15,9 months in the ipilimumab group. Additionally, treatment-related grade 3–5 adverse

events were less frequent with pembrolizumab (13.3% and 10.1%) than with ipilimumab (19.9%) [36].

Ipilimumab in combination with nivolumab has been studied in melanoma clinical trials. In the CheckMate-067 phase III trial, nivolumab alone or nivolumab plus ipilimumab were compared with ipilimumab alone in 945 previously untreated patients with metastatic melanoma [33]. The rates of objective response were 57.6% in the nivolumab-plus-ipilimumab group, 43.7% in the nivolumab group, and 19.0% in the ipilimumab group. The mPFS was 11.5 months in the nivolumab plus-ipilimumab group, 6.9 months in the nivolumab group, and 2.9 months in the ipilimumab group. Treatment-related grade 3/4 adverse events were observed in 59% of patients in the nivolumab plus ipilimumab group, in 22% of the nivolumab group, and 28% of the ipilimumab group. At the last follow-up, 6.5-year OS rate was 49% in the combination group and 42% in the nivolumab group, as compared with 23% in the ipilimumab group. The median overall survival was 72.1 months for patients treated with nivolumab plus ipilimumab, 36.9 months in the nivolumab group, and 19.9 months in the ipilimumab group [37].

Despite progress in treatment of advanced disease, the majority of patients treated with targeted therapy develop resistance while on therapy and approximately 60% and 20-30% of melanoma patients show primary and secondary resistance to PD-1 checkpoint inhibition, respectively [38]. Primary resistance to CPI occurs when there is a failure to induce an effective antitumor immune response at any of the three stage of the cancer immune cycle [antigen presentation and T-cell activation, T-cell trafficking and tumor infiltration and T-cell killing activity within the tumor microenvironment (TME)]. Primary resistance mechanisms are poor immunogenicity, impaired dendritic cells maturation (IL-6, IL-10 from TME, lipid accumulation, IL-35), downregulation of chemokines required for T-cell recruitment, upregulation of endothelin B receptor, overexpression of VEGF, induction of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), upregulation of regulatory T cells and expression of innate anti-PD1 resistance signature (IPRES) transcriptional signature. Acquired resistance occurs in patients who relapse after exhibiting initial response to immunotherapy. Mechanisms that give rise to secondary resistance are the loss of beta-2 microglobulin, loss-offunction mutations in JAK/STAT pathway, upregulation of PD-L1, upregulation of immune checkpoint markers [e.g. lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG3), T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain 3 (TIM-3)] [39,40].

Biomarkers in melanoma

As in other types of cancer, the search for tumor markers in melanoma is being intensively investigated to provide better tools for less invasive disease management. Historically, the lack of effective therapies against advanced melanoma has limited the utility of these markers. Fortunately, encouraging results obtained with new therapeutic strategies has stimulated renewed interest in this field.

For many years, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) has been the only serum biomarker used in metastatic melanoma. LDH is an ubiquitous enzyme having a tetrameric structure. Subunits that can be of two types: M (muscle type) or H (heart type) encoded by two genes LDH-A and LDH-B, respectively. LDH catalyzes the conversion of pyruvate to lactate. This conversion is essential in hypoxic and anaerobic conditions when adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production by oxidative phosphorylation is disrupted. In malignancy, the growth of tumor cells consumes oxygen supply and hypoxia is quite common. Throughout the decades, several studies have shown that LDH is a marker of metastases especially in liver [41,42] and is an important independent prognostic factor as patients with increased LDH had reduced survival [43–45].

Predictive biomarkers for immunotherapy can be classified into three major groups: tumorintrinsic biomarkers, which are expressed by tumor cells (e.g., PD-1/PDL-1, tumor mutational burden); tumor microenvironment biomarkers (e.g., tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte); and systemic biomarkers (e.g., circulating factors, microbiota).

Tumor mutational burden (TMB) is an index that summarizes the mutational load of a tumor. Since a high number of mutations could translate into a high number of neoantigens that the immune system can recognize, it has been hypothesized that TMB could act as a proxy for CPI effectiveness. As shown by Cristescu et al. [46], melanomas with high TMB have a response rate to pembrolizumab of 42% versus only 9% of melanomas with low TMB. However even though high TMB alone can identify a subset of tumors particularly sensitive to CPI, it should be highlighted that cancers with low TMB could also derive benefits from immunotherapies, albeit in a small percentage of patients (5%) [47]. Theoretically, even in a context of low mutational burden, strong immunogenic neoantigens could be generated, albeit with a lower probability compared to a high TMB context.

Programmed cell death 1 receptor (PD-1) is a checkpoint molecule present on T-cells, B-cells, and natural killer cells, which can interact with its ligands: PD-L1, expressed on tumor cells. PD-L1 is, indeed, the most commonly recognized biomarker to predict immunotherapy response in patients with different solid tumors, including cutaneous melanoma [48]. For pembrolizumab,

nivolumab, and combined regimens, there is a significantly higher benefit in patients with positive PD-L1 melanomas. Notwithstanding, PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors appear to also have activity in subsets of patients who do not meet IHC positivity to PD-L1 [49]. This is mainly because PD-L1 expression might represent only a component of T cell–related biology that is relevant to a favorable tumor immune microenvironment.

Newer genomic technologies can be used to evaluate complexities of tumor and host immune cell interactions within the tumor microenvironment, going beyond the measurement of single analytes such as PD-L1. Ayers et al examined the T cell-inflamed gene expression profiling (GPE) in the tumor microenvironment, using RNA isolated from formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tumor tissue samples and found that IFN- γ -related gene expression signatures predict response to PD-1 checkpoint blockade in melanoma [50]. Similarly, Gide et al. performed transcriptomic and immune profiling on 158 melanoma samples and identified two gene clusters associated with better outcomes with anti-PD-1 monotherapy. In particular, IFN-related genes (such as TBX21, STAT1, IRF1, TNF, and IFNG) and tumor-infiltrating T-cell genes (CCL5, CXCL13, and IL-2) were highly expressed, suggesting activated T-cells enriched tumoral microenvironment in responders with IFN-secretive phenotype [51].

Melanoma cells release a myriad of compounds into circulation either by active secretion or as result of cell death. Others are endogenously produced in response to the disease process. As can be expected, the concentration of these substances, i.e., biomarkers, can change during the course of the illness in response to progression or therapeutic intervention. These markers include nucleic acid, protein, metabolites, and microvesicles. In addition, during disease progression, some cells can detach from the primary tumor and be incorporated into the circulatory compartment and as such serve as biomarkers themselves. Among the required characteristics, an ideal tumor marker should have high sensitivity and specificity, ideally 100%, and should be easily quantified in accessible samples. Blood is a very accessible specimen that can be obtained repeatedly providing a more dynamic picture of the disease process versus a tissue biopsy that encompasses a single point in time. Circulating biomarkers offer information related to the diagnosis, staging, prognosis, and monitoring of the disease process [52].

Circulating microRNAs

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are endogenous single-stranded nucleotides, 18–25 in length, that bind to 3'-untranslated regions of a target gene, which in turn might regulate multiple cellular processes through modulation of RNA translation. To date, miRNAs are by far the most studied non-coding

RNAs (ncRNAs) in cancer and are certainly the most well-studied RNA source as liquid biopsies. Due to their high abundance and inherent stability in a variety of bodily fluids (e.g. blood, urine, stool and saliva), miRNAs have been regarded as one of the most promising non-invasive biomarker sources [53–55].

The miRNA biogenesis begins with transcribing gene into large primary transcript (pri-miRNA), which is 5' capped and 3' polyadenylated in structure. The transcription is typically mediated by RNA polymerase II, although some pre-miRNAs are generated by RNA polymerase III [56,57]. The pri-miRNAs are then cleaved by a microprocessor complex, composed of RNA-binding protein DGCR8 and type III RNase Drosha, into a ~ 85-nucleotide stem–loop structure called precursor miRNA (pre-miRNA). Following transportation by Ran/GTP/Exportin 5 complex from nucleus to cytoplasm, the pre-miRNAs are processed by another RNase III enzyme Dicer to a ~20–22-nucleotide miRNA/miRNA duplex. After the duplex is unwound, the mature miRNA is incorporated into a protein complex termed miRNA-induced silencing complex (miRISC) and guides RISC to target mRNA [58]. MiRNAs can target hundreds of mRNAs and regulate different biological processes, including immune cell differentiation [59].

Several studies have demonstrated the release of extracellular RNAs in blood and biological fluids including urine, saliva, seminal, ascites, and cerebrospinal fluid [60–63]. In addition, the expression profile of circulating miRNAs is different if considering biological fluids' origin and different pathophysiological conditions, thus indicating that extracellular miRNAs may be selectively released from cells and not only passively released from necrotic or injured cells. Studies suggest two major ways for miRNA release into the extracellular microenvironment: miRNAs can be packaged and transported in extracellular vesicles (EVs) or associated with RNA binding proteins or lipoproteins (Figure 1) [64].

Currently, majority of non-coding RNA(ncRNA)-based liquid biopsy biomarker candidates are investigated for diagnostic and screening purposes [65]. Since miRNAs are frequently overexpressed in cancers, they are plausibly suitable for monitoring of cancer progression and recurrence as well. Accordingly, several studies have demonstrated the utility of circulating ncRNAs, including miRNAs, for cancer monitoring [66]. Furthermore, considering that tissue-based profiling of various ncRNA types in multiple cancers have clarified the functional roles of miRNAs in cancers, there is an increasing research interest to understand the molecular profiles of these novel ncRNAs in the circulation for potential blood-based cancer biomarker discovery [65].



Figure 1. RNA release from tumor cells. A) microRNAs are released from the cancer cell into the extracellular microenvironment packaged and transported in extracellular vesicles, including exosomes, microvesicles and apoptotic bodies; or associated with RNA-binding proteins, such as Argonaute (AGO) and nucleophosmin1 (NPM1), or with lipoproteins, including high-density lipoprotein (HDL). B) Melanoma cells release RNAs in the extracellular microenvironment and in the bloodstream. RNA molecules are either complexed with RNA-binding proteins or lipoproteins or packaged in extracellular vesicles (EVs). microRNAs can be detected in whole blood, plasma, and serum samples. Circulating miRNA levels are different in melanoma vs. normal vs. other tumors and can be used as diagnostic biomarkers.

Selection of miRNAs

MiR-155 is highly expressed in activated B cells, T cells and other immune cells and plays key roles in modulating humoral and innate cell-mediated immune responses. Ji and colleagues demonstrated that miR-155 enhances the anti-tumor response by epigenetically restricting CD8+ T cell differentiation and functional exhaustion [67]. Moreover, it was showed that in a melanoma mouse model, miR-155 expression in CD8+ T cells reflects the strength of in situ antigen stimulation, independent of the inflammatory environment. Anti–PD-1 treatment leads to both increased miR-155 expression and tumor control by specific CD8+T cells. In addition, low miR-155 target gene signature in tumors is associated with prolonged overall survival in melanoma patients, raising the hypothesis that high miR-155 expression in CD8+ tumor-infiltrating T cells may be a surrogate marker of the relative potency of in situ antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell responses [68].

MiR-320a exhibits abnormal expression levels in multiple malignancies and is involved in the formation, progression, and metastasis of cancer. In a recent study conducted in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), plasma exosomal microRNAs were investigated. It was found that a high level of miR-320 family could be correlated with an unfavorable response to anti-PD-1 treatment and could be potential predictive factor of anti-PD-1 therapy [69].

In a study performed on human ovarian cancer cell lines OVCAR-3 and tumour ovarian tissues, it has been demonstrated that miR-424 overexpression reduced PD-L1 and CD80 expression through direct binding to the 3'-UTRs of these genes. Furthermore, low miR-424 and high PD-L1 expression were significantly correlated and strongly associated with chemoresistant phenotypes

in ovarian cancer and restoration of miR-424 expression enhanced the sensitivity of cancer cells to drug treatment and was accompanied by T-cell activation by blocking the PD-L1 immune checkpoint in both in vitro and in vivo models [70]. In a more recent study the serum miRNA profiling was performed in NSCLC patients treated with anti-PD1 drugs, showing that some miRNAs including miR-424-5p were significantly increased in responders [71].

OBJECTIVES

In the present study we aimed to evaluate the prognostic and predictive role of circulating miRNAs in metastatic melanoma patients treated with CPI. Specifically, the miRNAs we chose to analyze are: miR-155-5p, miR-320a and miR-424-5p. The choice of these miRNAs was performed after a careful analysis of the literature.

METHODS

The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Bologna University Hospital. All participants provided written informed consent for the use of their samples for research purposes. Patients with unresectable locally advanced or metastatic cutaneous melanoma were enrolled in the Medical Oncology Unit of Policlinico Sant'Orsola-Malpighi of Bologna, from May 2020 to May 2022.

In the present study, peripheral venous blood samples from patients with metastatic melanoma treated with CPI were collected before the start of CPI treatment (baseline, T0) and longitudinally, approximately every 3 months (T1, T2, etc). Fresh blood was collected in EDTA tubes (BD Vacutainer). For plasma separation EDTA tubes were centrifuged at 1900xg for 10 minutes at 4°C, while for serum plain tubes were centrifuged at 1100xg at room temperature. Plasma and serum has been stored at -80°C until use. Total RNA was extracted from 200 μ L of plasma samples using miRNeasy kit (Qiagen) after adding cel-miR-39-3p as spike-in molecule. The conversion of RNA to cDNA was performed using 2 μ L of RNA template and the miRCURY LNA RT kit (Qiagen). Circulating miRNA quantification was performed by droplet digital PCR (Biorad) using an EvaGreen and LNA primer-based assays. QuantaSoft Program (Biorad) calculated the absolute quantifications of each miRNA, indicated as copies/ μ L.

Tumor burden was quantified by adding the sum of the longest dimensions of all measurable baseline target lesions according to RECIST v1.1 criteria.

OS was defined as the time elapsed between the first blood draw (T0) and death from any cause. PFS was defined as the time elapsed between the start of immunotherapy treatment and the progression of disease. The best performing cut-off level for classifying patients into low and high miRNA level groups was performed using the web application Cutoff Finder. We analyzed differences across the groups using Mann-Whitney and Unpaired t-test according to D'Agostino-Pearson Test for normality. Statistical analyses were performed using Microsoft Excel, Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) program version 28.0 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) and R studio.

RESULTS

Patients characteristics and treatments

Fourteen patients affected by metastatic cutaneous melanoma were included in this analysis. According to American Joint Commission on Cancer (AJCC) 8th edition, 4 patients were M1a (29%), 3 patients M1c (21%) and 7 patients M1d (50%). Median age at the time of study enrollment was 65 years (range 39-86 years). Five patients harbored a BRAF mutation (36%). Half of the patients (N=7) had elevated basal lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) level. All the patients had at least 3 metastases: 3-5 metastases in 8 patients (57%), >5 in 6 patients (43%). Median baseline tumor size was 105 mm (range 48-299 mm), 6 patients had baseline tumor burden <100 mm (43%) and 8 patients >100 mm (57%). Patients' characteristics are summarized in Table 1.

Characteristic	No. of patients	Percentage %	
Age	-		
Median (yr) - range	65 (39-86)		
Gender			
Female	5	36	
Male	9	64	
BRAF mutation status			
wild type	9	64	
mutated	5	36	
Elevated baseline LDH level	7	50	
Baseline no. of metastases			
<3	0		
3-5	8	57	
>5	6	43	
M stage (AJCC 8)			
M1a	4	29	
M1b	0		
M1c	3	21	
M1d	7	50	
Baseline Tumor Size	÷		
Median (mm) - range	105 (48- 299)		
<100 mm	6	43	
>100 mm	8	57	

Table 1 Patients' characteristics

Seven patients received first line treatment with anti-PD1 (4 patients nivolumab and 3 patients pembrolizumab), one patient received the combination of nivolumab and ipilimumab after relapsing on adjuvant treatment with nivolumab, three patients received the combination of nivolumab and ipilimumab for progressive disease on BRAF/MEK inhibition and three patients

received first line treatment with nivolumab and ipilimumab. Median duration of anti-PD1-based therapy was 8 months (95% CI: 3,5 -12,5). Four patients received subsequent systemic treatments (two patients received ipilimumab and two patients were rechallenged with BRAF/MEK inhibition) (Figure 2). Three patients received concomitant radiotherapy and one patient elettrochemotherapy.

The database lock occurred on September 23, 2022. The median follow up time for the alive patients was 15.4 months. Objective response rate was 36%, median PFS 3.5 months and median OS 7.3 months. Four patients developed treatment-related toxicity.



Figure 2 The swimmer plot shows the treatment history for all the patients. Each bar represents one patient.

MiRNAs analysis

MiR-155-5p, miR-320a and miR-424-5p expression from metastatic melanoma patients' serum and plasma samples were analysed by ddPCR in our laboratory. The miRNA level was higher in plasma than serum samples, therefore we chose to analyse their expression in plasma samples. We analyzed miR-155-5p, miR-320a and miR-424-5p circulating levels before starting treatment with CPI (T0). As shown in Figure 3, all miRNAs except miR-424-5p show a significantly higher level in plasma of patients who are alive after 1 year of follow-up.



Figure 3 Baseline circulating levels of miR-155-5p, miR-320a, buy not miR-424-5p, are higher in patients who are still alive after 1 year from the start of CPI

Furthermore, high/low levels of baseline miR-155-5p, miR-320a and miR-424-5p are significantly associated with overall survival and progression-free survival (Figure 4). We found no correlation between basal miRNA level and the development of drug toxicity.



Figure 4 Gehan-Breslow-Wilcoxon analysis for overall survival and progression-free survival analysis in patients with high or low circulating miRNAs levels.

Longitudinal analysis of circulating miRNAs concentrations suggests a good concordance among the three selected miRNAs and an hypothetical role in describing the clinical course in terms of objective response to CPI treatment (Figure 5).



Figure 5 Longitudinal analysis of miR155, miR-424-5p and miR-320a in a patient with initial partial response to anti-PD1, progressive disease at 12 months and subsequent second line with anti-CTLA-4 for metastatic NRAS Q61R mutant melanoma

Finally, we analyzed circulating miRNA levels specifically in the group of patients who received first-line anti-PD-1 treatments, to observe if the miRNA levels were significantly associated with objective response according to RECIST criteria. This is a preliminary analysis on a pilot group of 7 patients. As can be observed in Figure 6, baseline miR-155-5p shows higher levels in responder vs. non responder patients (p 0.06).



Figure 6 Analysis of T0 miR-155-5p, miR-320a and miR-424-5p expression in responder and non-responder patients treated with anti-PD-1 therapy

DISCUSSION

Although immunotherapy has revolutionized the treatment of metastatic melanoma, approximately 60% of melanoma patients show primary resistance to PD-1 blockade, and 20–30% of initial responders will develop secondary (acquired) resistance to CPI. Therefore, it is key to find biomarkers that can predict the response or resistance to immunotherapy.

The aim of our study was to explore the role of circulating miRNAs in metastatic melanoma treated with CPI; in particular we analyzed miR-155-5p and miR-424-5p on the basis of data showing their involvement in the T-cell immune response [67,70] and miR320a because of its high specificity for melanoma [72].

We found that lower baseline levels of miR-155-5p, miR-320a and miR-424-5p are associated with a poor prognosis and higher baseline miR-155-5p level can predict response to anti-PD1.

The short mPFS and mOS are explained by the fact that the population included in the study is mostly with poor prognosis [all patients with \geq 3 metastases, 71% M1c or M1d, 50% with elevated LDH, 57% with high tumor burden (>100mm)]. Furthermore, half of the patients had brain involvement and of these, 3 patients received the combination of nivolumab and ipilimumab when progressing to BRAF/MEK inhibition, that showed to be significantly less effective than in treatment naïve patients [73].

It is noteworthy that the correlation between the baseline level of miR-155-5p and the response to anti-PD1 agent, if confirmed, could have important clinical implications suggesting that treatment intensification is necessary for patients with low baseline level of miR155-5p (e.g. association of anti-PD1 with anti-CTLA-4 or anti-LAG3 or with loco-regional treatments, such as radiotherapy, whenever feasible).

While many studies have focused on identifying circulating miRNA biomarkers that can distinguish between melanoma patients and healthy control individuals, relatively few studies have investigated the prognostic role of circulating miRNAs and fewer studies focused on the identification of circulating miRNAs as predictors of response to therapies.

Huber and colleagues identified a set of microRNAs (miR-146a-5p, miR-155-5p, miR-125b-5p, miR-100-5p, let-7e, miR-125a-5p, miR-146b-5p, and miR-99b-5p) that are responsible for the conversion of monocytes into myeloid suppressor cells (the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) in the tumor microenvironment can hinder immunotherapy efficacy). They measured the expression levels in the plasma of melanoma patients with advanced disease (stage IIIC unresectable and stage IV) and in a group of healthy donors and they found that baseline levels clustered with the clinical efficacy of CTLA-4 or PD-1 blockade [74].

As such, the clinical potential of circulating miRNAs in metastatic melanoma patients remains largely undefined and our study aims to shed some light on it.

One of the strengths of our study stays in its prospective nature with longitudinal sampling during treatment. The concentration of circulating biomarkers can change during the course of illness in response to progression of disease or therapeutic intervention. The analysis of blood samples over a period of time will allow a dynamic assessment of the disease, which is very difficult to achieve with tissue biopsies.

Another aspect to be considered is that circulating miRNAs originate from multiple sources including primary cancer cells, tumor metastases, immune cells, and cells of the tumor microenvironment, therefore they have the disadvantage of a reduced tumor specificity; however, they reflect the complex tumor–host interaction more than what is occurring in the tumor cells and they and mirror the systemic and comprehensive effects of disease or its evolution over time.

Even though promising, our results are preliminary and need to be further investigated in a larger and more homogeneous cohort of patients. Therefore, we aim to enroll a larger cohort of untreated metastatic melanoma patients candidate to receive anti-PD1 therapy.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. International Agency for Research on Cancer, WHO. GLOBOCAN.
- 2. Whiteman, D.C.; Green, A.C.; Olsen, C.M. The Growing Burden of Invasive Melanoma: Projections of Incidence Rates and Numbers of New Cases in Six Susceptible Populations through 2031. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **2016**, *136*, 1161–1171, doi:10.1016/j.jid.2016.01.035.
- 3. I Numeri Del Cancro in Italia. Rapporto AIOM-AIRTUM 2021.
- 4. Gershenwald, J.E.; Scolyer, R.A.; Hess, K.R.; Sondak, V.K.; Long, G. V.; Ross, M.I.; Lazar, A.J.; Faries, M.B.; Kirkwood, J.M.; McArthur, G.A.; et al. Melanoma Staging: Evidence-Based Changes in the American Joint Committee on Cancer Eighth Edition Cancer Staging Manual. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* **2017**, *67*, 472–492, doi:10.3322/caac.21409.
- 5. CROWLEY, N.J.; SEIGLER, H.F. Late Recurrence of Malignant Melanoma. *Ann. Surg.* **1990**, *212*, 173–177, doi:10.1097/00000658-199008000-00010.
- Korn, E.L.; Liu, P.-Y.; Lee, S.J.; Chapman, J.-A.W.; Niedzwiecki, D.; Suman, V.J.; Moon, J.; Sondak, V.K.; Atkins, M.B.; Eisenhauer, E.A.; et al. Meta-Analysis of Phase II Cooperative Group Trials in Metastatic Stage IV Melanoma to Determine Progression-Free and Overall Survival Benchmarks for Future Phase II Trials. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2008, 26, 527–534, doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.12.7837.
- Hocker, T.L.; Singh, M.K.; Tsao, H. Melanoma Genetics and Therapeutic Approaches in the 21st Century: Moving from the Benchside to the Bedside. J. Invest. Dermatol. 2008, 128, 2575–2595, doi:10.1038/jid.2008.226.
- Klinac, D.; Gray, E.S.; Millward, M.; Ziman, M. Advances in Personalized Targeted Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma and Non-Invasive Tumor Monitoring. *Front. Oncol.* 2013, *3*, doi:10.3389/fonc.2013.00054.
- Chapman, P.B.; Hauschild, A.; Robert, C.; Haanen, J.B.; Ascierto, P.; Larkin, J.; Dummer, R.; Garbe, C.; Testori, A.; Maio, M.; et al. Improved Survival with Vemurafenib in Melanoma with BRAF V600E Mutation. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2011, *364*, 2507–2516, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1103782.
- Hauschild, A.; Grob, J.-J.; Demidov, L. V; Jouary, T.; Gutzmer, R.; Millward, M.; Rutkowski, P.; Blank, C.U.; Miller, W.H.; Kaempgen, E.; et al. Dabrafenib in BRAF-Mutated Metastatic Melanoma: A Multicentre, Open-Label, Phase 3 Randomised Controlled Trial. *Lancet* 2012, *380*, 358–365, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60868-X.
- Flaherty, K.T.; Robert, C.; Hersey, P.; Nathan, P.; Garbe, C.; Milhem, M.; Demidov, L. V.; Hassel, J.C.; Rutkowski, P.; Mohr, P.; et al. Improved Survival with MEK Inhibition in BRAF-Mutated Melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2012, *367*, 107–114, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1203421.
- 12. Flaherty, K.T.; Infante, J.R.; Daud, A.; Gonzalez, R.; Kefford, R.F.; Sosman, J.; Hamid, O.; Schuchter, L.; Cebon, J.; Ibrahim, N.; et al. Combined BRAF and MEK Inhibition in Melanoma with BRAF V600 Mutations. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2012**, *367*, 1694–1703,

doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1210093.

- Long, G. V.; Stroyakovskiy, D.; Gogas, H.; Levchenko, E.; de Braud, F.; Larkin, J.; Garbe, C.; Jouary, T.; Hauschild, A.; Grob, J.J.; et al. Combined BRAF and MEK Inhibition versus BRAF Inhibition Alone in Melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2014, *371*, 1877–1888, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1406037.
- Robert, C.; Karaszewska, B.; Schachter, J.; Rutkowski, P.; Mackiewicz, A.; Stroiakovski, D.; Lichinitser, M.; Dummer, R.; Grange, F.; Mortier, L.; et al. Improved Overall Survival in Melanoma with Combined Dabrafenib and Trametinib. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2014, *372*, 30– 39, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1412690.
- Robert, C.; Grob, J.J.; Stroyakovskiy, D.; Karaszewska, B.; Hauschild, A.; Levchenko, E.; Chiarion Sileni, V.; Schachter, J.; Garbe, C.; Bondarenko, I.; et al. Five-Year Outcomes with Dabrafenib plus Trametinib in Metastatic Melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2019, *381*, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1904059.
- Dummer, R.; Ascierto, P.A.; Gogas, H.J.; Arance, A.; Mandala, M.; Liszkay, G.; Garbe, C.; Schadendorf, D.; Krajsova, I.; Gutzmer, R.; et al. Encorafenib plus Binimetinib versus Vemurafenib or Encorafenib in Patients with BRAF -Mutant Melanoma (COLUMBUS): A Multicentre, Open-Label, Randomised Phase 3 Trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2018, 19, 603–615, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30142-6.
- Dummer, R.; Flaherty, K.T.; Robert, C.; Arance, A.; de Groot, J.W.B.; Garbe, C.; Gogas, H.J.; Gutzmer, R.; Krajsová, I.; Liszkay, G.; et al. COLUMBUS 5-Year Update: A Randomized, Open-Label, Phase III Trial of Encorafenib Plus Binimetinib Versus Vemurafenib or Encorafenib in Patients With *BRAF* V600–Mutant Melanoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2022, 40, 4178–4188, doi:10.1200/JCO.21.02659.
- Printz, C. Spontaneous Regression of Melanoma May Offer Insight Into Cancer Immunology. JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2001, 93, 1047–1048, doi:10.1093/jnci/93.14.1047.
- Rosenberg, S.A.; Mulé, J.J.; Spiess, P.J.; Reichert, C.M.; Schwarz, S.L. Regression of Established Pulmonary Metastases and Subcutaneous Tumor Mediated by the Systemic Administration of High-Dose Recombinant Interleukin 2. *J. Exp. Med.* 1985, *161*, 1169– 1188, doi:10.1084/jem.161.5.1169.
- Rosenberg, S.A.; Yang, J.C.; Topalian, S.L.; Schwartzentruber, D.J.; Weber, J.S.; Parkinson, D.R.; Seipp, C.A.; Einhorn, J.H.; White, D.E. Treatment of 283 Consecutive Patients with Metastatic Melanoma or Renal Cell Cancer Using High-Dose Bolus Interleukin 2. *JAMA 271*, 907–13.
- Atkins, M.B.; Lotze, M.T.; Dutcher, J.P.; Fisher, R.I.; Weiss, G.; Margolin, K.; Abrams, J.; Sznol, M.; Parkinson, D.; Hawkins, M.; et al. High-Dose Recombinant Interleukin 2 Therapy for Patients With Metastatic Melanoma: Analysis of 270 Patients Treated Between 1985 and 1993. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 1999, *17*, 2105–2105, doi:10.1200/JCO.1999.17.7.2105.
- 22. Atkins, M.B.; Kunkel, L.; Sznol, M.; Rosenberg, S.A. High-Dose Recombinant Interleukin-2 Therapy in Patients with Metastatic Melanoma: Long-Term Survival

Update. Cancer J. Sci. Am. 2000, 6 Suppl 1, S11-4.

- 23. Schwartzentruber, D.J.; Lawson, D.H.; Richards, J.M.; Conry, R.M.; Miller, D.M.; Treisman, J.; Gailani, F.; Riley, L.; Conlon, K.; Pockaj, B.; et al. Gp100 Peptide Vaccine and Interleukin-2 in Patients with Advanced Melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2011**, *364*, 2119–2127, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1012863.
- 24. Schwartz, R.N.; Stover, L.; Dutcher, J.P. Managing Toxicities of High-Dose Interleukin-2. *Oncology (Williston Park).* **2002**, *16*, 11–20.
- 25. Fife, B.T.; Bluestone, J.A. Control of Peripheral T-Cell Tolerance and Autoimmunity via the CTLA-4 and PD-1 Pathways. *Immunol. Rev.* **2008**, *224*, 166–182, doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00662.x.
- 26. Hodi, F.S.; O'Day, S.J.; McDermott, D.F.; Weber, R.W.; Sosman, J.A.; Haanen, J.B.; Gonzalez, R.; Robert, C.; Schadendorf, D.; Hassel, J.C.; et al. Improved Survival with Ipilimumab in Patients with Metastatic Melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2010**, *363*, 711–723, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466.
- 27. Robert, C.; Thomas, L.; Bondarenko, I.; O'Day, S.; Weber, J.; Garbe, C.; Lebbe, C.; Baurain, J.-F.; Testori, A.; Grob, J.-J.; et al. Ipilimumab plus Dacarbazine for Previously Untreated Metastatic Melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2011**, *364*, 2517–2526, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1104621.
- 28. Schadendorf, D.; Hodi, F.S.; Robert, C.; Weber, J.S.; Margolin, K.; Hamid, O.; Patt, D.; Chen, T.-T.; Berman, D.M.; Wolchok, J.D. Pooled Analysis of Long-Term Survival Data From Phase II and Phase III Trials of Ipilimumab in Unresectable or Metastatic Melanoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2015**, *33*, 1889–1894, doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.56.2736.
- Ascierto, P.A.; Del Vecchio, M.; Robert, C.; Mackiewicz, A.; Chiarion-Sileni, V.; Arance, A.; Lebbé, C.; Bastholt, L.; Hamid, O.; Rutkowski, P.; et al. Ipilimumab 10 Mg/Kg versus Ipilimumab 3 Mg/Kg in Patients with Unresectable or Metastatic Melanoma: A Randomised, Double-Blind, Multicentre, Phase 3 Trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2017, *18*, 611–622, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30231-0.
- Topalian, S.L.; Sznol, M.; McDermott, D.F.; Kluger, H.M.; Carvajal, R.D.; Sharfman, W.H.; Brahmer, J.R.; Lawrence, D.P.; Atkins, M.B.; Powderly, J.D.; et al. Survival, Durable Tumor Remission, and Long-Term Safety in Patients With Advanced Melanoma Receiving Nivolumab. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2014, *32*, 1020–1030, doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.53.0105.
- Robert, C.; Long, G. V.; Brady, B.; Dutriaux, C.; Maio, M.; Mortier, L.; Hassel, J.C.; Rutkowski, P.; McNeil, C.; Kalinka-Warzocha, E.; et al. Nivolumab in Previously Untreated Melanoma without *BRAF* Mutation. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2015, *372*, 320–330, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1412082.
- 32. Ascierto, P.A.; Long, G. V.; Robert, C.; Brady, B.; Dutriaux, C.; Di Giacomo, A.M.; Mortier, L.; Hassel, J.C.; Rutkowski, P.; McNeil, C.; et al. Survival Outcomes in Patients With Previously Untreated *BRAF* Wild-Type Advanced Melanoma Treated With Nivolumab Therapy. *JAMA Oncol.* **2019**, *5*, 187, doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.4514.
- 33. Larkin, J.; Chiarion-Sileni, V.; Gonzalez, R.; Grob, J.J.; Cowey, C.L.; Lao, C.D.;

Schadendorf, D.; Dummer, R.; Smylie, M.; Rutkowski, P.; et al. Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or Monotherapy in Untreated Melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2015**, *373*, 23–34, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1504030.

- Hamid, O.; Robert, C.; Daud, A.; Hodi, F.S.; Hwu, W.J.; Kefford, R.; Wolchok, J.D.; Hersey, P.; Joseph, R.; Weber, J.S.; et al. Five-Year Survival Outcomes for Patients with Advanced Melanoma Treated with Pembrolizumab in KEYNOTE-001. *Ann. Oncol.* 2019, 30, 582–588, doi:10.1093/annonc/mdz011.
- Ribas, A.; Puzanov, I.; Dummer, R.; Schadendorf, D.; Hamid, O.; Robert, C.; Hodi, F.S.; Schachter, J.; Pavlick, A.C.; Lewis, K.D.; et al. Pembrolizumab versus Investigator-Choice Chemotherapy for Ipilimumab-Refractory Melanoma (KEYNOTE-002): A Randomised, Controlled, Phase 2 Trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2015, *16*, 908–918, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00083-2.
- Robert, C.; Ribas, A.; Schachter, J.; Arance, A.; Grob, J.-J.; Mortier, L.; Daud, A.; Carlino, M.S.; McNeil, C.M.; Lotem, M.; et al. Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma (KEYNOTE-006): Post-Hoc 5-Year Results from an Open-Label, Multicentre, Randomised, Controlled, Phase 3 Study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2019, 20, 1239–1251, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30388-2.
- Wolchok, J.D.; Chiarion-Sileni, V.; Gonzalez, R.; Grob, J.-J.; Rutkowski, P.; Lao, C.D.; Cowey, C.L.; Schadendorf, D.; Wagstaff, J.; Dummer, R.; et al. CheckMate 067: 6.5-Year Outcomes in Patients (Pts) with Advanced Melanoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2021, *39*, 9506, doi:10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15 suppl.9506.
- Schadendorf, D.; van Akkooi, A.C.J.; Berking, C.; Griewank, K.G.; Gutzmer, R.; Hauschild, A.; Stang, A.; Roesch, A.; Ugurel, S. Melanoma. *Lancet* 2018, *392*, 971–984, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31559-9.
- Gide, T.N.; Wilmott, J.S.; Scolyer, R.A.; Long, G. V. Primary and Acquired Resistance to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Metastatic Melanoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2018, 24, 1260–1270, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2267.
- 40. Vukadin, S.; Khaznadar, F.; Kizivat, T.; Vcev, A.; Smolic, M. Molecular Mechanisms of Resistance to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Melanoma Treatment: An Update. *Biomedicines* **2021**, *9*, 835, doi:10.3390/biomedicines9070835.
- 41. Garg, R.; McPherson, T.A.; Lentle, B.; Jackson, F. Usefulness of an Elevated Serum Lactate Dehydrogenase Value as a Marker of Hepatic Metastases in Malignant Melanoma. *Can. Med. Assoc. J.* **1979**, *120*, 1114, 1116.
- 42. Finck, S.J.; Giuliano, A.E.; Morton, D.L. LDH and Melanoma. *Cancer* **1983**, *51*, 840–3, doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19830301)51:5<840::aid-cncr2820510516>3.0.co;2-7.
- Eigentler, T.K.; Figl, A.; Krex, D.; Mohr, P.; Mauch, C.; Rass, K.; Bostroem, A.; Heese, O.; Koelbl, O.; Garbe, C.; et al. Number of Metastases, Serum Lactate Dehydrogenase Level, and Type of Treatment Are Prognostic Factors in Patients with Brain Metastases of Malignant Melanoma. *Cancer* 2011, *117*, 1697–1703, doi:10.1002/cncr.25631.
- 44. Keilholz, U.; Scheibenbogen, C.; Sommer, M.; Pritsch, M.; Geuke, A.-M. Prognostic Factors for Response and Survival in Patients with Metastatic Melanoma Receiving

Immunotherapy. *Melanoma Res.* **1996**, *6*, 173–178, doi:10.1097/00008390-199604000-00013.

- 45. Franzke, A.; Probst-Kepper, M.; Buer, J.; Duensing, S.; Hoffmann, R.; Wittke, F.; Volkenandt, M.; Ganser, A.; Atzpodien, J. Elevated Pretreatment Serum Levels of Soluble Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1 and Lactate Dehydrogenase as Predictors of Survival in Cutaneous Metastatic Malignant Melanoma. *Br. J. Cancer* **1998**, *78*, 40–45, doi:10.1038/bjc.1998.439.
- Cristescu, R.; Mogg, R.; Ayers, M.; Albright, A.; Murphy, E.; Yearley, J.; Sher, X.; Liu, X.Q.; Lu, H.; Nebozhyn, M.; et al. Pan-Tumor Genomic Biomarkers for PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade–Based Immunotherapy. *Science (80-.).* 2018, *362*, doi:10.1126/science.aar3593.
- Goodman, A.M.; Kato, S.; Bazhenova, L.; Patel, S.P.; Frampton, G.M.; Miller, V.; Stephens, P.J.; Daniels, G.A.; Kurzrock, R. Tumor Mutational Burden as an Independent Predictor of Response to Immunotherapy in Diverse Cancers. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 2017, *16*, 2598–2608, doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0386.
- Yarchoan, M.; Albacker, L.A.; Hopkins, A.C.; Montesion, M.; Murugesan, K.; Vithayathil, T.T.; Zaidi, N.; Azad, N.S.; Laheru, D.A.; Frampton, G.M.; et al. PD-L1 Expression and Tumor Mutational Burden Are Independent Biomarkers in Most Cancers. *JCI Insight* 2019, 4, doi:10.1172/jci.insight.126908.
- 49. Diggs, L.P.; Hsueh, E.C. Utility of PD-L1 Immunohistochemistry Assays for Predicting PD-1/PD-L1 Inhibitor Response. *Biomark. Res.* **2017**, *5*, 12, doi:10.1186/s40364-017-0093-8.
- Ayers, M.; Lunceford, J.; Nebozhyn, M.; Murphy, E.; Loboda, A.; Kaufman, D.R.; Albright, A.; Cheng, J.D.; Kang, S.P.; Shankaran, V.; et al. IFN-γ–Related MRNA Profile Predicts Clinical Response to PD-1 Blockade. *J. Clin. Invest.* 2017, *127*, 2930–2940, doi:10.1172/JCI91190.
- Gide, T.N.; Quek, C.; Menzies, A.M.; Tasker, A.T.; Shang, P.; Holst, J.; Madore, J.; Lim, S.Y.; Velickovic, R.; Wongchenko, M.; et al. Distinct Immune Cell Populations Define Response to Anti-PD-1 Monotherapy and Anti-PD-1/Anti-CTLA-4 Combined Therapy. *Cancer Cell* 2019, *35*, 238-255.e6, doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2019.01.003.
- 52. Alegre, E.; Sammamed, M.; Fernández-Landázuri, S.; Zubiri, L.; González, Á. Circulating Biomarkers in Malignant Melanoma. In; 2015; pp. 47–89.
- Shigeyasu, K.; Toden, S.; Zumwalt, T.J.; Okugawa, Y.; Goel, A. Emerging Role of MicroRNAs as Liquid Biopsy Biomarkers in Gastrointestinal Cancers. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2017, 23, 2391–2399, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1676.
- Link, A.; Balaguer, F.; Shen, Y.; Nagasaka, T.; Lozano, J.J.; Boland, C.R.; Goel, A. Fecal MicroRNAs as Novel Biomarkers for Colon Cancer Screening. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 2010, 19, 1766–1774, doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-10-0027.
- 55. Okugawa, Y.; Toiyama, Y.; Goel, A. An Update on MicroRNAs as Colorectal Cancer Biomarkers: Where Are We and What's next? *Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn.* **2014**, *14*, 999– 1021, doi:10.1586/14737159.2014.946907.

- 56. Borchert, G.M.; Lanier, W.; Davidson, B.L. RNA Polymerase III Transcribes Human MicroRNAs. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2006**, *13*, 1097–1101, doi:10.1038/nsmb1167.
- 57. Lee, Y.; Kim, M.; Han, J.; Yeom, K.-H.; Lee, S.; Baek, S.H.; Kim, V.N. MicroRNA Genes Are Transcribed by RNA Polymerase II. *EMBO J.* **2004**, *23*, 4051–4060, doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600385.
- 58. MacFarlane, L.-A.; R. Murphy, P. MicroRNA: Biogenesis, Function and Role in Cancer. *Curr. Genomics* **2010**, *11*, 537–561, doi:10.2174/138920210793175895.
- 59. Baltimore, D.; Boldin, M.P.; O'Connell, R.M.; Rao, D.S.; Taganov, K.D. MicroRNAs: New Regulators of Immune Cell Development and Function. *Nat. Immunol.* **2008**, *9*, 839–845, doi:10.1038/ni.f.209.
- Arroyo, J.D.; Chevillet, J.R.; Kroh, E.M.; Ruf, I.K.; Pritchard, C.C.; Gibson, D.F.; Mitchell, P.S.; Bennett, C.F.; Pogosova-Agadjanyan, E.L.; Stirewalt, D.L.; et al. Argonaute2 Complexes Carry a Population of Circulating MicroRNAs Independent of Vesicles in Human Plasma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2011, *108*, 5003–5008, doi:10.1073/pnas.1019055108.
- Chen, X.; Ba, Y.; Ma, L.; Cai, X.; Yin, Y.; Wang, K.; Guo, J.; Zhang, Y.; Chen, J.; Guo, X.; et al. Characterization of MicroRNAs in Serum: A Novel Class of Biomarkers for Diagnosis of Cancer and Other Diseases. *Cell Res.* 2008, *18*, 997–1006, doi:10.1038/cr.2008.282.
- 62. Chim, S.S.C.; Shing, T.K.F.; Hung, E.C.W.; Leung, T.; Lau, T.; Chiu, R.W.K.; Dennis Lo, Y.M. Detection and Characterization of Placental MicroRNAs in Maternal Plasma. *Clin. Chem.* **2008**, *54*, 482–490, doi:10.1373/clinchem.2007.097972.
- Weber, J.A.; Baxter, D.H.; Zhang, S.; Huang, D.Y.; How Huang, K.; Jen Lee, M.; Galas, D.J.; Wang, K. The MicroRNA Spectrum in 12 Body Fluids. *Clin. Chem.* 2010, *56*, 1733–1741, doi:10.1373/clinchem.2010.147405.
- Durante, G.; Broseghini, E.; Comito, F.; Naddeo, M.; Milani, M.; Salamon, I.; Campione, E.; Dika, E.; Ferracin, M. Circulating MicroRNA Biomarkers in Melanoma and Non-Melanoma Skin Cancer. *Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn.* 2022, *22*, 305–318, doi:10.1080/14737159.2022.2049243.
- 65. Toden, S.; Goel, A. Non-Coding RNAs as Liquid Biopsy Biomarkers in Cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* **2022**, *126*, 351–360, doi:10.1038/s41416-021-01672-8.
- 66. Zen, K.; Zhang, C.-Y. Circulating MicroRNAs: A Novel Class of Biomarkers to Diagnose and Monitor Human Cancers. *Med. Res. Rev.* **2012**, *32*, 326–348, doi:10.1002/med.20215.
- 67. Ji, Y.; Fioravanti, J.; Zhu, W.; Wang, H.; Wu, T.; Hu, J.; Lacey, N.E.; Gautam, S.; Le Gall, J.B.; Yang, X.; et al. MiR-155 Harnesses Phf19 to Potentiate Cancer Immunotherapy through Epigenetic Reprogramming of CD8+ T Cell Fate. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 2157, doi:10.1038/s41467-019-09882-8.
- Martinez-Usatorre, A.; Sempere, L.F.; Carmona, S.J.; Carretero-Iglesia, L.; Monnot, G.; Speiser, D.E.; Rufer, N.; Donda, A.; Zehn, D.; Jandus, C.; et al. MicroRNA-155 Expression Is Enhanced by T-Cell Receptor Stimulation Strength and Correlates with Improved Tumor

Control in Melanoma. *Cancer Immunol. Res.* 2019, 7, 1013–1024, doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0504.

- 69. Peng, X.-X.; Yu, R.; Wu, X.; Wu, S.-Y.; Pi, C.; Chen, Z.-H.; Zhang, X.-C.; Gao, C.-Y.; Shao, Y.W.; Liu, L.; et al. Correlation of Plasma Exosomal MicroRNAs with the Efficacy of Immunotherapy in *EGFR/ALK* Wild-Type Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *J. Immunother. Cancer* **2020**, *8*, e000376, doi:10.1136/jitc-2019-000376.
- Xu, S.; Tao, Z.; Hai, B.; Liang, H.; Shi, Y.; Wang, T.; Song, W.; Chen, Y.; OuYang, J.; Chen, J.; et al. MiR-424(322) Reverses Chemoresistance via T-Cell Immune Response Activation by Blocking the PD-L1 Immune Checkpoint. *Nat. Commun.* 2016, 7, 11406, doi:10.1038/ncomms11406.
- Fan, J.; Yin, Z.; Xu, J.; Wu, F.; Huang, Q.; Yang, L.; Jin, Y.; Yang, G. Circulating MicroRNAs Predict the Response to Anti-PD-1 Therapy in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Genomics* 2020, *112*, 2063–2071, doi:10.1016/j.ygeno.2019.11.019.
- 72. Ferracin, M.; Lupini, L.; Salamon, I.; Saccenti, E.; Zanzi, M.V.; Rocchi, A.; Da Ros, L.; Zagatti, B.; Musa, G.; Bassi, C.; et al. Absolute Quantification of Cell-Free MicroRNAs in Cancer Patients. *Oncotarget* **2015**, *6*, 14545–14555, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.3859.
- Long, G. V; Atkinson, V.; Lo, S.; Sandhu, S.; Guminski, A.D.; Brown, M.P.; Wilmott, J.S.; Edwards, J.; Gonzalez, M.; Scolyer, R.A.; et al. Combination Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or Nivolumab Alone in Melanoma Brain Metastases: A Multicentre Randomised Phase 2 Study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2018, *19*, 672–681, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30139-6.
- Huber, V.; Vallacchi, V.; Fleming, V.; Hu, X.; Cova, A.; Dugo, M.; Shahaj, E.; Sulsenti, R.; Vergani, E.; Filipazzi, P.; et al. Tumor-Derived MicroRNAs Induce Myeloid Suppressor Cells and Predict Immunotherapy Resistance in Melanoma. *J. Clin. Invest.* 2018, *128*, 5505–5516, doi:10.1172/JCI98060.